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Abstract

The Ambherst County Historic Resources Survey, conducted in 2009-10, was funded by the
County of Ambherst and the Virginia Department of Historic Resources (DHR) and was
administered jointly by DHR and Sweet Briar College’s Tusculum Institute. The survey was
undertaken by HistoryTech (formerly The Antiquaries), a preservation planning firm based
in Lynchburg, with assistance from Landmark Preservation Associates of Lexington. The
survey team members included Jesse Adams-Doolittle, Sandra F. Esposito, and W. Scott
Smith of HistoryTech/The Antiquaties. Scott Smith served as the project administrator and
principal investigator. J. Daniel Pezzoni of Landmark Preservation Associates wrote the
project report. The main objective of the survey was to broaden the range of historic
resources recorded in DHR’s database by documenting 275 mostly previously unidentified
resources. The survey resulted in the documentation of a total 292 resources, primarily
houses and farm complexes but also mills, stores, churches, and other building types. Survey
was conducted in areas of the county outside National Forest lands, comprising
approximately 75% of the county’s 475 square miles. Digital and hard-copy survey files were
produced for DHR and the locality and two potential historic districts—Sandidges and
Pedlar Mills—were proposed as eligible for listing in the Virginia LLandmarks Register and
the National Register of Historic Places.

Figure 1- An overview of Amherst County, Virginia
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Introduction, Research Design,
and Acknowledgements

The Amherst County Historic Resources
Survey, conducted in 2009-10, was funded
by the County of Amherst and the Virginia
Department of Historic Resources (DHR)
and was administered jointly by DHR and
Sweet Briar College’s Tusculum Institute.
The survey was modeled on DHR’s
“Guidelines for Conducting Survey in
Virginia for Cost Share Projects” (May
2005) and was undertaken by HistoryTech
(formerly The Antiquaries), a preservation
planning firm based in Lynchburg, with
assistance from Landmark Preservation
Associates of Lexington. The project was
administered by Kiristin Kirchen, DHR
Architectural Historian, with assistance
from Bob Carter, DHR Historian and
Community Services Division Director, and
Ann  Andrus, Director, DHR Capital
Regional Preservation Office. The Steering
Committee consisted of Joe Bondurant with
the County of Amherst, Travis McDonald
with Thomas Jefferson’s Poplar Forest, and
Dr. Lynn Rainville with Sweet Briar
College’s Tusculum Institute. The survey
team members included Jesse Adams-
Doolittle, Sandra F. Esposito, and W. Scott
Smith of HistoryTech/The Antiquaties.
Scott Smith served as the project
administrator and principal investigator. J.
Daniel Pezzoni of Landmark Preservation
Associates wrote the project report.

Project planning commenced in November
2009 and included an initial meeting
between the survey sponsors, Steering
Committee, and consultants on November
17, 2009. Periodic meetings were held
throughout the duration of the survey and
contact was maintained through telephone
and email. Fieldwork was conducted from
November 2009 through May 2010.

Project Objectives & Research
Design

The principal objectives of the survey were:

e To survey, at the reconnaissance level,
at least 275 previously undocumented
properties in the county outside
National Forest lands, in order to
broaden the thematic and geographic
coverage of the existing survey.

o If desired, record, at the intensive level,
properties that may be eligible for listing
on the National Register of Historic
Places. If an intensive level survey for
such a property was submitted, it would
have a “value” equivalent to 2
reconnaissance level surveys.

e If desired, identify potential historic
districts or cultural landscapes. If a
preliminary information form (PIF) for
a potential district or landscape was
submitted, it would have a ‘“value”
equivalent to 12 reconnaissance level
surveys.

e C(Create a PowerPoint
outlining survey findings

presentation

e Create a survey report (this document)

Before venturing into the field, the survey
team reviewed existing survey files at the
Virginia Department of Historic Resources
Archives in Richmond and conducted basic
study of primary and secondary sources
within the Amherst community. Maps from
the eighteenth, nineteenth, and twentieth
centuries, along with modern high-
resolution aerial photography were used to
identify sites that were likely to yield
positive results. Finally, recommendations
for possible properties to be surveyed were
received from local citizens via telephone,
letter, email, and public meetings.

The survey team members (Adams-
Doolittle, Esposito, and Smith) used the
above data to guide travel on county roads



in search of candidate survey  sites.
Information was recorded on field forms
and entered into DHR’s Data Sharing
System (DSS) database software from which
hardcopy files were generated. Properties
were also digitally photographed, and
locations were recorded by GPS (Global
Positioning System) units.

Ambherst County covers approximately 475
square miles, or 304,000 acres. 18 USGS
(U.S. Geological Survey) Quadrangle maps
include portions of the County. The outer
boundaries of the George Washington and
Jefferson ~ National = Forests  reserve
approximately 25% of that area for public
use. However, multiple communities,
including Pera, Beverlytown, Oronoco, and
Coffeytown are home to residents who still
have title to private holdings within the
National Forest. Approximately 19,200
acres of these inholdings were surveyed as a
part of this project. Thus, approximately
247,200 acres of Ambherst County were
surveyed by the 2009-2010 Cost Share
Survey project.

Previous Survey in Amherst County

The systematic documentation of the
county’s historic resources began in the late
1930s with the work of the Works Progress
Administration of Virginia  Historical
Inventory, a state and federal collaboration
to research, describe, photograph, and map
the Commonwealth’s historic tresoutces,
principally elite houses dating to before the
Civil War. Only one Amherst County
property, Brick House (005-0002), has been
recorded in full by HABS (Historic
American Buildings Survey). This survey
took place in 1957.

The next major phase of survey in Amherst

County began in the mid- to late 1970s with
the survey of scores of resources under the

Ambherst County Historic Resources Survey Report

guidelines of the Virginia  Historic
Landmarks Commission, predecessor of the
DHR. Additional resources were surveyed
in the early 1980s by staff of the Central
Virginia Planning District Commission and
in the late 1980s by the William and Mary
Archaeological Project Center in
preparation for right-of-way acquisition for
the U.S. 29 bypass. Prior to the 2009-10
survey, approximately 350 resources had
been surveyed within Amherst County.

The level of documentation of the
approximately 350 previously recorded
properties varies widely. Some have been
documented with complete intensive level
surveys or have been listed on the National
Register of Historic Places. A relatively
complete profile of these resources is likely
available. However, other properties are
only identified with a single photograph or
perhaps just a marked location on a map.
The team for the 2009-2010 survey was
specifically directed not to resurvey any of
these previously recorded properties at the
reconnaissance level.

At the commencement of the project, 20
resources within Amherst County that had
previously been recorded were not mapped
for one reason or another. The survey team
was asked to look for these resources and
map them if possible. At the close of the
project, the team had located all but 4 of
these resources.

Understanding of Amherst County’s historic
resources has also benefited from the
nomination of resources to the Virginia
Landmarks Register and the National
Register of Historic Places. The register
reports, which contain detailed historical
and architectural information, typically
result from sponsorship by individual
property owners. This has created a bias
towards elite  residences,  although
information on auxiliary farm buildings and
other more vernacular resources is often



included. Amherst County properties (with
their DHR site numbers) presently listed in
the state and national registers are:

e Bear Mountain Indian Mission

School (005-0230)

e Brick House (Garland House; 005-
0002)

e Edge Hill (005-0005)

e FEdgewood, Boulder Springs (005-
0158)

e FEdgewood (163-0003)

e Fairview (005-0006)

e Forest Hill (005-0108)

e Geddes (005-0007)

e The Glebe (005-0010)

e Hite Store (005-0058)

e Mountain View Farm (005-0011)

e Oak Lawn (005-5029)

e Red Hill Farm (005-0014)

e Speed the Plough (005-0040)

e Sweet Briar College Historic District
(005-0219)

e Sweet Briar House (005-0018)
e Tusculum (005-0020)
e Winton (005-0021)

The nomination reports for these properties
may be viewed online at the DHR website
www.dhr.virginia.gov. Selected information
from the nominations 1is presented
throughout the survey report.
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Survey Report

The survey report was prepared by Dan
Pezzoni with input from the survey team
members. The majority of the report is
comprised of a historic context that is
prefaced by a brief overview and description
of the county and is organized by the
following DHR themes:

e FEthnic

e Architecture

e Agriculture

o (Commerce

e Industry

e Transportation
e (Government

e Education

e Religion

e Funerary

The discussion in each theme proceeds
roughly chronologically beginning with the
eighteenth century. Exceptions to this basic
structure include the discussion of ethnicity,
which begins with a discussion of Monacan
history around 1000 A.D. and concludes
with a discussion of the contemporaneous
settlement by European and African
peoples starting in the eighteenth century;
and the agricultural and industrial
discussions, which are structured by
subtheme as well as chronologically. The
architecture theme focuses on house types,
construction methods, and styles, so DHR’s
Domestic theme is therefore subsumed into
it, but it also includes limited discussion of
non-domestic building types. The physical
characteristics of most non-domestic
building types are described in the
appropriate thematic discussions.

Selected properties from previous sutrvey
work in the county as well as properties
from the 2009-10 project are referred to in
the report by name or site number (163- for


http://www.dhr.virginia.gov/

sites in the town of Ambherst; 005- for sites
outside the town). Information on historic
resources that are not accompanied by site
numbers is derived from sources other than
survey files (in other words, these sites have
not been surveyed). The abbreviation “ca.”
accompanies some dates and is used for
“circa,” a Latin word meaning “about” that
indicates a date is approximate or
conjectural. The report concludes with
evaluation/recommendations for properties
and districts that appear to meet the criteria
for inclusion in the National Register of
Historic Places. The results of the survey
were presented to the public at a final
presentation held on June 23, 2010.

A set of the survey materials will be housed
at the Amherst County Administration
Building on Washington Street in Amherst.
The Ambherst County Museum and
Historical Society at 154 Main Street in
Ambherst will also receive a set of survey
files, and is uniquely positioned to
accommodate researchers by providing
workspace, a photocopier, and access to a
significant research library and archival
collection. A bound copy of the survey
report will also be available in the local
history collection of the Amherst County
Public Library.
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Historic Context

Overview

Settlement of the area that would become
Ambherst County, which was created in 1761
out of Albemarle County, began in earnest
in the middle decades of the eighteenth
century as agriculturalists of largely English
and African derivation moved into the area
from the east, adding to a pre-existing
populace of Native Americans, the
Monacans. The James River, navigable by
batteaux in its upper reaches, facilitated
settlement in the county and linked it to
markets in Richmond and beyond. Tobacco
was the principal cash crop of early Amherst
and a focus of the slave-based plantation
system that dominated the county economy
and social structure until the Civil War, but
livestock and mixed farming were also
important. Most early residents lived on
farms in vernacular dwellings accompanied
by a host of specialized domestic and farm
resource types such as smokehouses,
springhouses, family cemeteries, barns,
corncribs, and the like. Other building types
such as mills, distilleries, churches, and
stores appeared in greater numbers with the
steady rise in population during the late
cighteenth and early nineteenth centuries.
The development of Lynchburg on the
county’s southern border opened a
convenient market, as did eventually the
growth of local communities such as the
county seat of Amherst, Madison Heights,
Clifford, and Monroe, which added a new
dimension to the agrarian landscape. The
construction of the James River and
Kanawha Canal in the second quarter of the
nineteenth century, the development of
turnpikes, and the extension of rail lines
such as the Orange and Alexandria into the
county in the latter half of the nineteenth
century fostered economic growth and,
especially in the case of the railroad,
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facilitated large-scale exploitation of the
county’s forests. Defensive works were
erected in the county during the Civil War.
In the African American communities that
coalesced after the war churches and
schools functioned as vital institutions.
Important developments of the twentieth
century were the growth of Sweet Briar
College  beginning in  1901; greater
sophistication and mainstream influence in
architecture; the impact of the automobile
and highways; the establishment of national
forest lands and the construction of the
Blue Ridge Parkway; increased public school
construction; and suburbanization,
especially in areas near Lynchburg.

Description

Amberst County is located in the western
Piedmont section of Virginia. The county
presently encompasses 475 square miles
and, in shape and orientation, is
approximately a square set at forty-five
degrees. The county is bordered by Nelson
County on the northeast, by Appomattox
County on the southeast, by Campbell
County and the City of Lynchburg at its
southern tip, by Bedford County on the
southwest, and by Rockbridge County on
the northwest. The southeast and southwest
borders of the county are defined by the
James River. The Blue Ridge Mountains run
along the northwest border. The county is
watered by the James River and tributaries
such as (from west to east) Pedlar River,
Buffalo River, and Piney River, and the
rolling topography is dissected by numerous
streams. The county’s lowest elevations are
along the James River in the Riverville
vicinity at just over 400 feet above sea level.
The highest elevations are peaks of the Blue
Ridge that rise over 4,000 feet. In addition
to the Blue Ridge there are outlying
mountains such as Tobacco Row Mountain
and Buffalo Ridge. The majority of the
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county land area is wooded, with most of
the woodland concentrated in the George
Washington and Jefferson National Forests,
which extend along the Blue Ridge and
cover approximately a quarter of the county
land area.

The county’s population was 31,894 in 2000
and was estimated to have increased to
32,539 by 2008. The most populous
community is the Madison Heights CDP
(census designated place), which in 2000
had a population of 11,475 that reflected its
status  as a bedroom community of
Lynchburg. Amherst, the county seat, had a
population of 2,251 in 2000. Historically the
county was served by several important
regional transportation routes. The James
River facilitated the settlement of the county
in the eighteenth century and linked it to
eastern markets. The county was situated
“near the upper end of navigation with
small craft in said river,” according to a
1775 description. Originally river traffic
relied solely on the natural course of the
river, which was hazardous in places. To
reduce the difficulties of river travel, the
seven-and-a-half-mile-long  Blue  Ridge
Canal was constructed to bypass Balcony
Falls in the 1820s and was later refurbished
as a link in the great James River and
Kanawha Canal, built in the 1830s and
1840s. Roads were also important
transportation  improvements,  initially
trading paths and tobacco rolling roads (so
named for the tobacco hogsheads that were
rolled along them), then turnpikes in the
nineteenth century, and finally paved roads
for car and truck traffic in the twentieth
century. The first railroad to traverse the
county was the Orange and Alexandria,
completed in 1860. A transportation
improvement of particular note is the Blue
Ridge Parkway, constructed on the crest and
flanks of the Blue Ridge Mountains
beginning in the 1930s."

! Virginia Gazette, February 11, 1775.
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Ethnicity

Historically, Amherst County’s people
belonged to three major groups: the Native
American Monacans, whites of European
ancestry, and blacks of African ancestry
(with varying degrees of mixing between the
groups). Archaeological evidence suggests
the Monacans were present in the western
Piedmont by the end of the first millennium
A.D. Archaeologist Jeffrey Hantman notes a
“cultural boundary” expressed in the
archaeological record that appeared during
the Late Woodland Period and that may
represent the divide between the Siouan-
speaking Monacans and the Algonquian-
speaking Powhatans to the east. Some
researchers speculate that the Monacans
moved into Virginia from the Ohio River
Valley. Hantman is more cautious in his
assessment of the origins of the
“archaeological complex by the historic
name Monacan,” stating: “It remains to be
determined whether this was a local
development, a migration from the west, or
some combination of the two.” Siouan-
speaking Indians in Virginia during the
contact period included the Tutelo, Saponi,
and Occaneechi in addition to the
Monacans. (Some authors claim descent of
the Saponi and Tutelo from the Monacans.)
Jamestown leader John Smith’s 1608 map of
Virginia indicates the country of the
Monacans in the James River drainage of
the western Piedmont. That same year
another Jamestown official, Christopher
Newport, was directed to “Discover the
Country of the Manakins.” Newport led an
expedition of 120 men up the James River
and into the eastern part of Monacan
territory. A reconstruction of the Monacans’
lands shows Ambherst County at the
southwest end of this territory.”

% Hantman, “Powhatan’s Relations with the
Piedmont Monacans,” 100, 104; Hantman,
“Monacan Archaeology of the Virginia Interior,”
116, 122; “Jamestown to the Falls;” Cook,
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In their lifeways the Monacans were
probably similar to the better-known
Powhatans. They subsisted by hunting,
gathering, fishing, and agriculture; they lived
in villages along major watercourses; and
they apparently had a hierarchical political
structure with a chief village collecting
tribute from subsidiary villages. Their
population likely numbered over 5,000
individuals in 1607. Mortuary practices
included “accretional burial mounds,” one
of the cultural practices that distinguished
the Monacans from the Powhatans. It
seems likely that the mound excavated by
Thomas Jefferson and described in his Nozes
on the State of VVirginia (1787) was a Monacan
burial mound. Jefferson reported that about
1750 a party of Indians, presumably
Monacans, had visited the mound and
lingered by it “with expressions which were
construed to be those of sotrrow.” One
account states that Monacans who settled at
Fort Christanna in Brunswick County in
1714 put up dwellings, circular or
rectangular in plan, constructed of saplings
covered with bark.’

The Monacans, like Virginia’s other native
peoples, suffered from war and disease
during the seventeenth and eighteenth
centuries. Some apparently merged with the
remnants of other Indian groups and
migrated out of state, but evidence points to
a continued Monacan presence in the
western Piedmont with a concentration in
the mountains of Ambherst County. Lewis
Evans’ “A General Map of the Middle
British Colonies in America” (1755) labels
the Amherst County area and adjacent
counties “Monacan” and also indicates
Tuscarora Indians in the region. (The 1751

Monacans and Miners, 35-37; Wood, Virginia
Indian Heritage Trail, 30; Houck and Maxham,
Indian Island, 17, 26.

% Hantman, “Powhatan’s Relations with the
Piedmont Monacans,” 100, 104, 107; Jefferson,
Notes on the State of Virginia, 100; Houck and
Maxham, Indian Island, 17, 26.
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Fry-Jefferson Map on which the Evans map
was largely based does not label the two
groups.) If Tuscaroras were present in the
area, they may have been refugees from the
Tuscarora War waged in North Carolina
earlier in the century." When white settlers
began to move into the area in the
eighteenth century, some intermarried with
the Monacans. A trader named Hughs or
Hughes, who may have arrived in Amherst
County as early as the 1720s, is thought to
have married an Indian woman. Another
trader, Robert Johns of Richmond, settled
in the region in the 1750s and married a
Monacan woman named Mary. According
to several historians, Robert and Mary’s son,
William  Johns  (1770-ca.  1855),
described as a “freeman of color” in county
records, a term that would have been
applied to Indians as well as free blacks. In
1833 Johns purchased a four-hundred-acre
tract on Bear Mountain and established
what his descendents called The Settlement.
The tract became the focus of Monacan life
in later years. Historian Samuel R. Cook
believes there were other, less well known
Indian-owned lands in the county, some
dating back to the 1770s.”

was

* Houck and Maxham, Indian Island, 35, 37;
Hantman, “Powhatan’s Relations with the
Piedmont Monacans,” 110-111; Wood and Shields,
The Monacan Indians: Our Story, 16.

® Houck and Maxham, Indian Island, 54-58; Cook,
Monacans and Miners, 52, 61-62; Wood and
Shields, The Monacan Indians: Our Story, 20-21;
Perdue, “Bear Mountain Indian Mission School,”
6-7.
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The Virginia authorities began to impose
restrictions on the Indian population in the
mid- and late seventeenth century,
beginning a legacy of official repression that
would persist into the twentieth century.
Amberst County’s Indians were classified as
mulattos in the nineteenth century and black

of one or two rooms, sometimes with a

6
lean-to termed ‘cook-room.”’

After the Civil War a log school was
established for the Monacan community
and beginning in 1889 the county supplied a
teacher for the school. The Bear Mountain

in the twentieth, Indian Mission
subjecting them School (005-
to many of the 0230), the name
same by which the
segregationist late-nineteenth-
policies endured century school is
by African listed in the
Americans. In National
1934 the Register of
Virginia ~ State Historic  Places,
Bureau of Vital was joined in
Statistics,  for 1908 by St
example, Paul’s  Mission
compiled a list Figure 2- This one-room log cabin (005-5088) in the Wares Church,  which
of Ambherst Gap vicinity is similar to Monacan dwellings described in was funded by
County people historic accounts. Many rural blacks and whites lived in similar local
who were dwellings. Episcopalian

banned from white facilities, including many
with typically Monacan surnames. The
Monacans were also economically
disadvantaged. The fact that many lived on
relatively poor mountain land, rather than
the rich river bottoms that were part of their
ancestral lands, is one indication of their
impoverishment. Some Monacans resided as
squatters on white-owned property, and
period accounts of their housing underscore
the poverty of the people. In 1908 an
observer described typical Monacan houses
as “little log cabins about 16 feet square,
with a loft above, and a shed outside and
one such cabin will be the home of two or
three families and more than a dozen
individuals. They live scattered about on the
lands of the white people raising tobacco on
shares, women working in the fields with
men.” A 1928 account of houses in the Bear
Mountain settlement described “log cabins
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philanthropists. A frame addition was made
to the schoolhouse the same year. The
Mission evolved into the Monacan Tribal
Center in the latter part of the twentieth
century and the mission buildings were
transferred to the Monacans in 1995. The
Monacans were accorded official tribal
status by the Commonwealth of Virginia in
1989. The tribe hosts an annual pow wow in
the nearby community of FElon as a
celebration of Monacan culture and
heritage. In addition to the Monacans,
Cherokees are claimed as another resident
Native American group in the county.
According to historian Horace Rice, a band
of bi-racial and tri-racial peoples with
Cherokee blood settled along the James

® Cook, Monacans and Miners, 76, 84-86; Houck
and Maxham, Indian Island, 64; Perdue, “Bear
Mountain Indian Mission School,” 7-8.
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River in the Stapleton area in the eighteenth
century.7

By the end of the seventeenth century,
Virginia’s Native American populations had
been reduced by war, disease, cultural
disruption, and out-migration. Native
groups from outside the state passed
through on occasion, but for the most part

century, perhaps with an increase in Irish as
a result of antebellum canal and railroad
construction projects which relied heavily
on Irish wotkers. The urbanization and
increased mobility of the twentieth century
introduced Europeans from other ethnic
backgrounds, and recent decades have seen
an influx of Hispanics seeking economic
opportunity.®

the landscape was laid
open to European
settlement. For
Ambherst County and
adjacent areas of the

Piedmont, that
settlement moved
westward from the

British settlements of
the Chesapeake.
Historians Shertie and
William McLeRoy cite
a statistical analysis
that suggests more
than a third of
Ambherst’s early

settlers bore English
surnames, about

third Scottish surnames, followed by 12
percent Welsh, 6.5 percent German, about 4
percent French (Huguenot), and about 3.5
percent Irish. (By Scottish the McLeRoys
may have meant Scots-Irish, Protestant
Scotts who had settled in Northern Ireland
before moving to the New World.) This
approximate  analysis  points to a
preponderance of settlers with roots in the
British Isles, as was true elsewhere in
Piedmont and Tidewater Virginia. The
ethnic ratios among county residents of
European origin  presumably remained
about the same through the nineteenth

" Perdue, “Bear Mountain Indian Mission School,”
8-9; Cook, Monacans and Miners, Wood, Virginia
Indian Heritage Trail, 89-90; Wood and Shields,
The Monacan Indians: Our Story, 33; Rice, The
Buffalo Creek Ridge Cherokee, 3; The Muse
(February 2003); McLeRoy and McLeRoy,
Strangers in their Midst, 47-48.
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Figure 3- Monacan Burial Ground (005-5089)

Some European settlers brought with them
African American slaves, and early Amherst
County was an extension of the slave-based
plantation economy of more easterly
Virginia counties. Statistical analysis by
McLeRoy and McLeRoy suggest an
enslaved African American population of
around 40 percent in the late eighteenth
century. The majority would have been
employed in agriculture and forest clearance
but presumably some worked in industrial
enterprises such as mining and trades such
as carpentry and blacksmithing. The number
of blacks rose by the early nineteenth
century and the slave population of the
county roughly equaled the free white
population for the period 1810, the year of
the first federal census after Ambherst

 McLeRoy and McLeRoy, More Passages, 25.

15



County achieved its present proportions,
through 1860, the eve of the Civil War. Of a
total population of 13,742 in 1860, 6,278
individuals (45 percent) were slaves and 297
individuals (2 percent) were classified as free
blacks, a figure that presumably included
Native Americans. The 1860 census
indicates that most county slaveholders
owned a single and only one
slaveowner possessed in excess of one
hundred slaves.’

slave

Sherrie and William McLeRoy have made a
special  study of Ambherst County’s
antebellum free black population. The
McLeRoys write that “free negroes used the
court system, they paid taxes, and they
owned businesses. Some were highly
successful commercial farmers who invested
time and money to improve their farms.
Others held a variety of occupations, from
chairmaker to weaver to river boatmen.” All
were skills that helped blacks in general with
the challenges of freedom following the
Civil War. With freedom came the
opportunity  for blacks to  establish
communities. One, located along Turkey
Mountain Road, consists of houses and
cemeteries that were surveyed as sites 005-
5236 through 005-5240. The architecturally
related houses in this farming community
belonged to persons who attended, and
continue to attend, New Jerusalem Baptist
Church (005-5242). Before the Civil War,
many African Americans attended white
churches; afterward they formed separate
congregations that developed into the
backbone of black society. Schools were
another  important  social  institution,
although they were underfunded compared
to white schools during the period of
segregation. 'The cause of integrated
schooling was at the forefront of the Civil
Rights movement of the 1950s and 1960s,

° McLeRoy and McLeRoy, More Passages, 86-91;
Kennedy, Agriculture of the United States in 1860,
243.
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which helped achieve a more just society in
Ambherst County and the rest of the
nation."’

1 McLeRoy and McLeRoy, More Passages, 91.
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Architecture

The earliest buildings to survive from

Ambherst  County’s rich  architectural
evolution appear to date to the third quarter
of the eighteenth century, the vyears

bracketing the county’s political formation
in 1761. The best documented surviving
buildings are dwellings of rectangular plan
and heavy timber frame construction, and
although they are small by modern
standards, they probably ranked among the
most sophisticated and substantially built
houses of their day. Three examples—the
original sections of The Glebe, Geddes, and
Tusculum—are among the earliest, with
historical or architectural evidence for
construction in or by the 1760s. The Glebe
(005-0010), located near Clifford, is argued
to have been built ca. 1762, and as its name
indicates, it was built as the residence of the
local minister of the Church of England, a
leading personage in the colonial social and
political structure. Geddes (005-0007), also
built ca. 1762 in the Clifford vicinity,
belonged to Hugh Rose, a political figure
and one of the county’s wealthiest
landowners. Thomas Jefferson’s family
evacuated to Geddes during Tarleton’s raid
of Charlottesville in 1781. Tusculum (005-
0020) is believed to date to before the 1770s
based on architectural evidence. Its early
historical context is unclear other than that
it was associated with the prosperous
Crawford family. Tusculum with its later
additions originally stood near the Nelson
County line but has been disassembled and
moved to Sweet Briar College where
reconstruction is planned. Two eighteenth-
century dwellings documented by the 2009-
2010 survey that are probably representative
of the homes of the county’s large and
middling farmers are Brookside Farm (005-
5082), thought to date to 1785, and the

Ambherst County Historic Resources Survey Report

house at 719 Ebenezer Road (005-5318),
believed to date to 1797."

The frame construction of these houses was
in keeping with standard eastern Virginia
practice among affluent homebuilders
during the colonial period. Something of the
character of the county’s early houses is
hinted at in a sale advertisement for the
domestic and farm buildings of Henry Key’s
Amberst County plantation that was printed
in a 1773 issue of the Williamsburg 7rginia
Gazette. “A new dwellinghouse, 36 by 28,
with a stack of brick chimnies, consisting of
six fireplaces, and a brick and stone cellar
under the whole, very convenient for a
tavern or store; also a small dwelling-house,
with two brick fireplaces, and good cellar
under it, a kitchen, with a good brick
chimney, together with all convenient
outhouses, barn, stables, dairy, cornhouse,
smokehouse, &c.” Key’s house would have
been one of the largest in the county at the
time; building statistics gathered in the
1780s for part of northern Halifax County,
an analogous tobacco-growing Piedmont
area, counted only a single dwelling that was
larger than Henry Key’s plantation house. "

Key’s “stack of brick chimnies” and the
brickwork of his cellar represented costly
investments. An advertisement for another
county house noted its stone chimney in
1778, and the 1785 and 1801 acts of
establishment for, respectively, the towns of
Cabellsburg (Clifford) and Bethel required
lot purchasers to build brick or stone
chimneys on dwellings (which were to be a
minimum of sixteen feet square). The
requirement that chimneys be built of
fireproof materials like brick and stone may

1 Kraus, “The Glebe;” Peters, “Geddes;”
McDonald et al, “Tusculum;” Pezzoni,
“Tusculum.”

12 Virginia Gazette, August 26, 1773; Pezzoni,
“Architectural History of Halifax County,
Virginia,” 4.
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seem redundant to a modern observer, but
in fact early homebuilders sometimes
erected chimneys of flammable mud-coated
wood. Wooden chimneys, as they are
known, could be made relatively fire-
resistant, but they were inferior to masonry
chimneys in a number of ways and gradually
fell from favor over the course of the
nineteenth century. The survey did not
document evidence of former wooden
chimneys, although it is possible some
surveyed dwellings once had them."

Among the many brick chimneys
documented by the survey, some of the
eatlier ones have double shoulders, in other
words narrowings (shoulders) above the
lower and wupper fireboxes. As the
nineteenth  century  progressed,  brick
chimneys for multi-story houses tended
toward an uninterrupted shaft with
shoulders only above the second-floor
fireplace. Usually chimneys were bilaterally
symmetrical but an unusual asymmetrical
brick chimney, with the shoulders smaller
on one side than the other, was constructed
for the house at 265 Monacan Park Road
(005-5258). Sets of paved shoulders (rather
than the more common stepped form), one
on the outward face of the chimney,
distinguish a brick chimney on the Peters
Homeplace  (005-5085). Several stone
chimneys have noticeably larger quoin
stones that served to strengthen the corners;
the quoin stones of a house on Bearfield
Road (005-5291) almost interlock across the
face of the chimney. Large stone chimneys
like the one on Rose Hill (005-5183)
presumably served for cooking and other
chores in addition to heating.

House heights of one story or a story with a
habitable garret (story-and-a-half) were
standard in the county during the eighteenth

3 Virginia Gazette, July 10, 1778; McLeod,
“Outline History of the Town of Salt Creek
(Bethel).”
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century. More prosperous or ambitious
landowners sometimes erected full two-
story dwellings. An early example is Winton
(005-0021), believed to have been built in
the 1770s. An eighteenth-century date of
construction is supported by the home’s
elaborate Georgian detail. The usually boldly
expressed classicism of the Georgian style,
the dominant style in the American colonial
and early national periods, was superceded
by the more delicate Federal style in the
early nineteenth century. Winton also
possesses a center-passage plan with a
center hallway containing a stair that is
flanked by equal- or roughly equal-sized
rooms. By separating the circulation space
from living spaces the center-passage plan is
regarded as more sophisticated than the
hall-parlor plan, a locally common two-
room plan that combined circulation and
living spaces.'*

By the first quarter of the nineteenth
century the county’s wealthiest citizens had
begun to build brick houses. A notable
residence from the period is the David S.
Garland House (005-0002), popularly
known as the Brick House, at Clifford. The
Federal-style house features a tripartite
fagade with a projecting pedimented three-
bay center pavilion flanked by side-gabled
two-bay wings. The entire seven-bay facade
extends sixty-five feet in length and is
centered on a richly ornamented entry with
fluted pilasters and an arched fanlight. One
of the mantels has a distinctive Federal
three-part form with elliptical paterae in the
center and end frieze tablets. The
refinement of the house reflected the wealth
and prestige of its builder, David Shepherd
Garland (1769-1841), who served multiple
terms in the Virginia House of Delegates
and who also served in the Virginia Senate
and the U.S. House of Representatives.
Another large brick house in the Federal
style is Red Hill (005-0014), built near

14 Lee, “Winton.”
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Pedlar Mills for the Ellis family in 1824-25.
Certain details in the house show the
influence of Owen Biddle’s 1810 pattern
book, The Young Carpenter’s Assistant. Widely
disseminated pattern books were a common

materials. Wallpaper, either domestic or
imported, provided color and pattern for
walls and sometimes ceilings. Wallpaper was
likely the inspiration for an outstanding
local example of decorative painting at

source of
inspiration for
rural  Virginia

homebuilders
and their
carpenters.
The brick
walls of the
Garland
House and

Red Hill were
laid in Flemish
bond, the

most popular
brick bond for

Edgewood
(163-0003), a
ca. 1818 house
in the town of

Ambherst.
Edgewood’s
principal
parlor is
painted  with
landscape
murals that
feature exotic
and American
motifs such as
pagodas, palm

genteel trees, and an
Virginia Figure 4- The Zachariah Drummond House (005-5165) is American flag.
houses of the representative of the stylishly appointed brick houses built by the One mural
first half of the county’s elite in the early nineteenth century. pictures a tiger
nineteenth century. An wunusual and  hunt and is believed to have been inspired
substantial frame house with possible by French wallpaper manufacturer Joseph

Federal-style affinities
front-gable form."

(005-5119) has a

Architectural detail was an important aspect
of many of the county’s historic houses.
The Georgian and Federal styles informed
the character of door and window
surrounds, mantels, and staircases—visual
focal points on the exterior and interior of
houses. In the second quarter of the
nineteenth century the Greek Revival style
supplanted the Federal style. Simplicity was
a hallmark of the style, which emulated the
architecture of classical Greece (and Rome)
with more pretence to authenticity than
earlier classical revival styles. Homeowners
hired painters to execute faux wood
(grained) and faux marble (marbled) finishes
on wood to simulate finer and more costly

B Esposito, “Brick House;” Peters and Cote, “Red
Hill Farm.”
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Dufour’s scenic wallpaper “Paysage Indien,”
first printed in 1806. The artist who created
the scenes has not been identified but is
assumed to have been an itinerant, as was
typically the case for such work in the
nineteenth century.'’

Surviving examples of early houses, those
that can be precisely or approximately dated
by means of archival sources and
architectural features, tend to be the homes
of the county’s socioeconomic elite. The
homes of the wealthy were generally
substantial and well constructed, factors that
have contributed to their survival. The
houses are therefore not necessarily
representative of the full range of dwellings
that formerly existed in the county. The
picture is further complicated by the
difficulty of dating the majority of historic

1 Esposito, “Edgewood.”
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houses, especially, for example, the small
houses of landless blacks, whites, and
Native Americans for which family or local
traditions have not been passed down and
which may not register in land tax records.
Slave houses are included in this group.
From federal census returns it is known that
the slave population of the county
numbered above 5,000 individuals for the
period 1810 to 1860 (there was also a small
free black population), and there would
have been many buildings used as or built
for their dwellings.
slaveholdings a detached kitchen or the loft

hearth centered in southeast Pennsylvania.
A number of theories have been developed
to explain log building in the Fastern United
States: the most holistic and persuasive
argues for a Scandinavian origin for many of
the log building features introduced to the
Mid-Atlantic hearth and transmitted to the
Upland South, of which Amherst County is
a part.'®

A defining feature of log construction is the
method by which the corners are joined,

of an outbuilding
may have served
as a dwelling, and
some house
slaves resided in
the main house.

For the smaller known as corner notching. The most
common form for Amherst County

dwellings appears

from surviving

examples to have
been v-notching,
identifiable by the
inverted v shape

Detached of the top of the
kitchens wete log end, which fit
sometimes into a v cut in the
constructed with bottom of the log
two rooms above. V-
around a center notching shed
chimney, one water away from
room to serve as the log in much
the kitchen and  Figyre 5- A representative Amherst County log house (005-  the same way the
the other as a 5287) v shape of a gable
slave dwelling. roof sheds rain.
For large slaveholdings, multiple slave  Other notching techniques that produced

houses might exist on a plantation, some
grouped together in a linear quarter near the
main house. A surviving slavehouse
belonging to Sweet Briar House (005-0018)
is a simply detailed one-room frame
building with weatherboard siding.17

Many of the county’s smaller houses were
constructed of logs. The survey identified a
couple dozen or more rural houses that
have or appear to have log sections or cores.
Log building traditions generally arrived in
Virginia by way of the Mid-Atlantic cultural

" McLeRoy and McLeRoy, More Passages, 86,
90; Tusculum Institute website.
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inclined surfaces were full- and half-dovetail
notching, which are generally associated
with the finest log construction. A one-story
log house at Peacedale Farm (005-5204) has
half-dovetail notching. Less refined or
technically demanding techniques included
saddle-notching, in which the log ends are
left in their natural round form, and square-
notching, where the tops of the logs have
flat rather than inclined surfaces. Saddle-
notching is more commonly seen in the
county’s farm buildings and also in
twentieth-century ~ Rustic-style  buildings

18 Jordan and Kaups, American Backwoods
Frontier, 35-36.
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where the intention was to create a crude
“pioneer” appearance. It is possible that
saddle-notching was once common among
the county’s dwellings but has failed to
survive on account of factors such as
inferior  construction,  poverty,  and
obsolescence. The log wing of a small
service station (005-0144) on US Highway
60 has square notching, as may also a log
dwelling on State Route 699 (005-5123)
where the notching appears intermediary
between square- and saddle-notching. These
two examples may date to the 1930s or
1940s, and their square-notching affinities
may be the result of Rustic-style influence
rather than vernacular tradition.

Log construction had many advantages for
Amberst County settlers. It provided both
sttucture and enclosure, unlike frame
construction which required a covering

material on the outside of the frame
(generally clapboards or weatherboards,
attached with originally = scarce and

expensive nails). Because the wall was
almost solid wood, with the exception of
the chinking and daubing in the gaps
between the logs, log construction did not
make as frugal a use of material as frame
construction. This was not a disadvantage in
the context of heavily wooded Ambherst
County, and in fact aided the all-important
process of forest clearance to create
farmland. Most farmers were able to build at
least simple log structures—the expertise
required was less than that needed for
mortise-and-tenon frame construction—and
with the aid of family members and
neighbors a log house or barn pen could be
raised in short order. By relying on readily
available materials, know-how, and labort,
log construction was cheap and quick, a
boon to cash-strapped and time-pressed
farmers.

The ancient ways of log construction

coexisted in the county with a stylistic
development of elite dwellings that tracked

Ambherst County Historic Resources Survey Report

regional and national trends. The evolution
can be seen as the increasing integration of
the county’s architecture with the national
mainstream. This always existed to some
extent—the wealthiest and  worldliest
planters of the eighteenth century were
familiar with the houses of Williamsburg
and other cultural centers and sought to
emulate them in the Amherst County
backcountry. Beginning in the middle
decades of the nineteenth century, however,
the pace began to quicken and integration
extended down the social order. The rise of
the urban center of Lynchburg at Amherst’s
doorstep was a factor, as was improved
connection to the outside world by way of
canals, railroads, communications, and mass
media. The Industrial Revolution changed
the practice of building. Nails, for example,
once individually crafted by a blacksmith,
were now mass-produced as cut nails and,
by the end of the century, as modern wire
nails. Cheap and plentiful nails encouraged
light nailed-frame  construction  and
hastened the decline of heavy timber frame
and log construction. Railroads, portable
steam sawmilling, and the mechanization of
woodworking technology enabled the
wholesale harvesting of timber stands and
placed huge volumes of ready-made
architectural elements on the market.

Figure 6- Chinking detail (005-5319)
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Materials and architectural elements were
shipped into the county by rail, but many
were produced locally. An 1880 business
directory listed seven sawmills in the county;
by 1893 the number had risen to twenty-
one. Although the majority of these
probably produced roughly finished lumber,
some appear to have been more along the
lines of planing mills and sash and blind
factories where finished siding, scantling,
and ornament were produced. One
byproduct of the availability of locally sawn
board lumber was the construction of
boxed dwellings, a form that utilized vertical
planks for structure and enclosure with a
minimum of framing members. The survey
identified two houses that may be boxed,
designated 005-5154 and 005-5160. Bricks
were traditionally custom made for
individual building projects, often with clay
dug from the property fired in a brick kiln
or clamp erected on site. By the end of the
nineteenth  century, most brick was
produced in commercial brickyards outside
the county, but at least one brickyard
operated locally in 1893: B. Brown’s
brickyard in the town of Amherst.
Lynchburg also had brick plants, which at
times could not keep up with that city’s
demand, forcing builders to rely on bricks
manufactured in Baltimore."

With architectural sophistication came
greater professionalism in the building
trades. Carpenters, bricklayers, plasterers,
and other craftsman were active in the
county from the early years of settlement.
Two slave carpenters from the first two
decades of the nineteenth century, Leonard
and Cato, are known by name. The various
patternbook authors whose works were
used in the design of county residences may

19 Chataigne, Chataigne’s Virginia Business
Directory and Gazetteer, 1880-81, 106; Chataigne,
Chataigne’s Virginia Gazetteer and Classified
Business Directory, 1893-94, 198, 201-202;
Chambers, Lynchburg, 269.
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occasionally be regarded as vicarious
architects, for patternbook influence
sometimes went beyond details such as
mantels and stairs to the design of the house
in its entirety. A premier example is Sweet
Briar House (005-0018), a Federal-style
residence that was transformed into an
Italianate villa by the Fletcher family in
1851. With its towers and arcaded portico
Sweet Briar House is modeled closely on a
design of New York architect Richard
Upjohn published in architectural theorist
Andrew Jackson Downing’s Arhitecture of
Country  Houses (1850). The growth of
Lynchburg  created opportunities  for
resident architects such as the prolific
Robert Calhoun Burkholder (1826-1914),
who probably designed Fairview (005-0006),
an Italianate house built near Lowesville in
1867. Another possible  Burkholder-
designed residence is 005-5120, a ruinous
brick house with an angled corner wing and
segmental-arch windows, some with paneled
keyblocks. Amherst County itself supported
two individuals who styled themselves as
civil engineers in an 1893 business directory:
R. A. Pendleton and John B. Robinson Jr.”’

2 Museum of Early Southern Decorative Arts
website; Loth, Virginia Landmarks Register, 38;
Downing, Architecture of Country Houses, 352;
Esposito, “Fairview,” 8, 10, 11; Chataigne,
Chataigne’s Virginia Gazetteer and Classified
Business Directory, 1893-94, 200.
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The technological changes and building
trade  professionalism  that  gathered
momentum during the second half of the
nineteenth century contributed to the
transformation of  Amherst County’s
domestic architecture. Sweet Briar House
and Fairview are examples of Italianate
influence, loosely based on the villas of the
Italian countryside. The Italianate style was
one of several exotic or eclectic styles that
marked a significant break with the
classicism of earlier styles. Sweet Briar
House has the symmetrical composition of

Sandidges Post Oftice and Store (005-5067),
which features a delicately sawn vergeboard
with trefoil pendants. The Gothic Revival,
of which the signature feature is the lancet
arch, paved the way for the conspicuous
sawn ornament of Victorian domestic
architecture. A large percentage of the
houses built on the county’s farms and in its
towns and villages during the late nineteenth
and early twentieth centuries have Victorian
ornament. The more elaborate versions of
the idiom, replete with complex hip and
gabled rooflines, textured wall treatments

preceding with  wood
great  houses shingles and
but Fairview is other sidings,
distinguished and capacious
by an off- porches that
center and often  wrap
diagonally around  two
skewed three- or more
story  tower elevations of
that, in the house, are
combination usually
with wings at termed
different Queen Anne.
levels, a porch This style
with arched Figure 7- A two-story center-passage-plan form and a Victorian (which  bore
brackets, —and porch decorated with sawn and turned ornament are features of the almO.St ho
an angled bay house at 1770 Boxwood Farm Road (005-5138) relation to its
window, give namesake
the house a pronounced asymmetry. By the  eighteenth-century monarch) began to

end of the nineteenth century asymmetry
was seen in one- and two-story farmhouses
with off-center front wings that gave their
main blocks L-shaped plans.

Roughly  contemporaneous  with  the
Italianate style was the Gothic Revival style,
which is most commonly seen in the
county’s church architecture. Although it
was generally coupled with symmetrical
compositions, at least locally, the Gothic
Revival went further than the Italianate style
in exploring non-classical sources, namely
medieval architecture. A rare local non-
church example of the style is the ca. 1880
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appear locally in the 1880s—the ca. 1887
John P. Pettyjohn House in Lynchburg is
one of the earliest examples in the vicinity
of Amherst County—and remained popular
into the second decade of the twentieth
century, when it began to blend with the
Classical Revival and Colonial Revival styles.
Queen Anne-influenced houses
documented by the survey include the
houses designated 005-5113 and 005-5216.”'

Amberst County continued to benefit from
the expertise of Lynchburg architects in the
twentieth century. The firm of Frye and

2! Chambers, Lynchburg, 293.
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Chesterman designed the 1910
hospital that is the core building
of the Central Virginia Training
Center (formerly the Virginia
State Epileptic Colony; 005-
0190). Stanhope S. Johnson
designed the Farmers Bank of
Ambherst  (1924-25) and the
Muncie Hill House (005-5209),
and John Minor Botts Lewis
designed the town of Ambherst’s
white  high  school  (1913;
demolished). All these buildings

showed the influence of the
renewed interest in
architecture that manifested itself

as the Classical Revival style at the end of
the nineteenth century. The style was given
a boost by the World Columbian
Exposition held in Chicago in 1893, and the
monumental classical portico that was one
of its defining features became a popular
motif for grand residences (including
remodelings of eatlier houses), schools,
banks, and other buildings where an
imposing architectural effect was the goal.
One of the county’s premier Classical
Revival houses was San Angelo, which
burned in the late twentieth century.”

Related to the Classical Revival style was the
Colonial Revival style, which viewed
classical architecture through the lens of
colonial and early national prototypes. The
house known as The Shelter (005-5087) at
Elon is the county’s foremost residence in
the style. Designed for Lynchburg
industrialist David Hugh Dillard by the
Lynchburg firm of Fauber and Poston, the
sprawling stone house was built in 1940 by
local contractor Samuel Erastus Belk, who
also built the Rock Cottage at the nearby
property Speed the Plough (005-0040). The
Shelter is graced by an lonic portico and

22 \Wells and Dalton, Virginia Architects, 160, 229,
258; McLeRoy and McLeRoy, More Passages,
124; Amherst News, July 18, 1979.
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classical Figure 8- The Patch, a Colonial Revival style house (005-5315)

topped by an octagonal cupola with a finial
in the form of an ear of corn. A version of
the Colonial Revival style known as the
Georgian Revival was used by nationally
prominent architect Ralph Adams Cram in
his design of the buildings for Sweet Briar
College (005-0219) in the first decade of the
twentieth century.

The Colonial Revival style could be less
grandiose than the Classical Revival style
and was therefore well suited for smaller
houses. Some representative examples
documented by the survey include The
Patch (005-5315), a snug ca. 1938 house of
Flemish-bond  brick construction with
segmental window heads; Oake Grove (005-
5332), which features a battered chimney, an
elegant entry porch, and a second-story
sleeping porch; and the ca. 1937 house at
499 Colony Road in Madison Heights (005-
5209), which has a complex chimney with
multiple paved shoulders. The story-and-a-
half frame house designated 005-5310 has a
gambrel roof that identifies it as an example
of the Dutch Colonial Revival genre. The
house is similar to designs marketed by
Sears, Roebuck and other mail order firms
in the 1920s and 1930s. The adaptable and
evocative Colonial Revival style remains a
favorite in Amherst County suburbs.

24



Another revival style, one that played more
a supporting role in the county, is the Tudor
Revival style. Rock Cottage at Speed the
Plough (005-0040) is one of the county’s
most sophisticated Tudor Revival houses. It
was designed by an unknown New York
architect and built ca. 1933 for George

Ambherst County. The style is best known
for its association with the bungalow type, a
compact and often well-appointed one-story
or story-and-a-half house form developed in
California at the beginning of the century
and disseminated via plan books, magazines,
and mail order firms across the nation
beginning in the 1910s. Bungalows and their

Stevens.  Two larger  two-story
Tudor Revival relative, the
houses in foursquare house
Madison form, were
Heights are favorites of mail
4881 S. Amherst order kit house
Highway  (005- suppliers like
5147), which has Sears, Roebuck,
layered front Montgomery
gabled Ward, and
projections  in Aladdin.
greenstone, Craftsman
brick, and false bungalows  and

half-timber, a
slate roof, and a
round-arch entry
with an original batten door; and a
whimsical ca. 1944 brick house at 4910 S.
Ambherst  Highway  (005-5149)  that
juxtaposes a battered chimney with a front
gable of exaggerated steepness. A
neighboring house at 4906 S. Ambherst
Highway  (005-5150) has polychrome
brickwork, a parapet shed roof that creates a
flat profile, and segmental porch openings
that cumulatively suggest the influence of
the Mission style, another eclectic revival
style of the early twentieth century that
looked to  Spanish  Colonial  and
Mediterranean antecedents.”

(005-5147)

Even as many architects and clients of the
first half of the twentieth century looked
backward for inspiration, some followed a
path that would lead to modernism in the
second half of the century. The Craftsman
style was the first truly ahistorical style to
achieve mass appeal nationwide and in

% Esposito, “Speed the Plough,” 5.
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Figure 9- A Tudor Revival style house in Madison Heights

foursquares have
some relationship
to Japanese and
European Arts and Crafts architecture, and
they sometimes reference other eclectic
styles of the early twentieth century such as
the Mission, Rustic, Tudor Revival, and
Colonial Revival styles, but the aesthetic is
sufficiently novel to represent a watershed
event in the county’s domestic architectural
development on a par with the advent of
non-classical styles in the mid-nineteenth
century. Craftsman-influenced houses were
probably first constructed in the county in
the 1910s and they remained popular into
the 1930s. Notable examples include the
story-and-a-half bungalow at 264 North
Five Forks Road in the Five Forks
community (005-5311), which features
Flemish bond construction and a porch and
porte cochere supported by round stone
pillars; the brick bungalow at 115 Main
Street in Madison Heights (005-52006), the
front porch of which is spanned by a single

arch; and the hip-roofed stone bungalow at
268 Montrose Road near Elon (005-5096).
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In a stylistic sense the Rustic style exists
between the Craftsman and Colonial
Revival idioms. Like the Craftsman style the
Rustic style encouraged experimentation in
form and materials use, but like the Colonial
Revival style it was grounded in historical
(and local) precedent (real or imagined) such
as the pioneer log building tradition. The
diminutive saddle-notched log store (005-
5266) at 2846 Buffalo Springs Turnpike,
built in the 1920s or 1930s, is a
representative  example  of  Rustic
architecture. Its log construction
nostalgically  evoked  traditional  log
architecture—ironically, while the real
tradition was probably still being practiced
in the construction of tobacco barns and
other farm buildings in out-of-the-way
corners of the county. The decorative cross
bracing and asphalt shingle sheathing in the
store’s  overhanging front gable are
borrowings from the Craftsman and Tudor
Revival styles.

More prepossessing is the building known
as  Ardeevin Lodge (005-5001) near
Winesap. The whimsical board-and-batten
frame building, which is encircled by a
colonnade of debarked tree trunk columns,
was probably built as a lodge in the 1910s-
1930s period. Its name is Gaelic and appears
to mean “delightful height,” perhaps a
reference to its elevated site overlooking the
James River valley. A reserved, government-
issue version of the Rustic style was used
for facilities along the Blue Ridge Parkway
where it was considered to harmonize with
the natural surroundings.”

The Craftsman style and to a lesser degree
the Rustic style familiarized county citizens
with architecture that was not overtly
historic. The styles were followed in the
1930s and 1940s by eatrly modernist styles
such as Art Deco and Moderne that rejected

2+ Robinson, et al, “Cultural Resource Planning
Overview of the Proposed Route 29 Project,” 34.

Ambherst County Historic Resources Survey Report

historicism in favor of flat-roofed elemental
forms and either a general lack or
attenuation of adornment (Moderne) or a
geometric ornament of zigzags and stylized
plant forms (Art Deco). An example of
Moderne styling is the former ABC Store
(163-5016) in the town of Ambherst, built to
a standardized state design with curved glass
block and fluted Indiana limestone surfaces.
Modernism became common during the
economic boom and accelerated
suburbanization that followed World War
II. The standard house type of the era was
the Ranch house or Rambler, a generally
side-gabled and brick-veneered form often
built to standardized plans. Streamlined
modernism was adopted for commercial
and institutional buildings such as the Frank
Wright Studio in Madison Heights (005-
5213), a flat-roofed building with multiple
large windows built for a commercial artist
who, coincidentally, shared his name with
the internationally acclaimed modernist
architect Frank Lloyd Wright.
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Agriculture

A 1910 handbook author wrote that
Ambherst County farmers raised “principally
tobacco, corn, and wheat . . . but tobacco
may be regarded as the principal money
crop.” Then, and in the earliest days of
settlement, tobacco cultivation was the
driving  force of  Amherst County
agriculture. As historian John Hammond
Moore put it in his history of Albemarle
County, of which Amherst was a part until
1761, tobacco “dominated the dreams” of
the settlers who flooded into the region

rich alluvial soils as well as for their
convenience to tiver transport.”’

Evidence suggests the county’s eatly
tobacco barns, or “tobacco houses” as they
were often termed in eighteenth-century
accounts, were relatively unspecialized
structures, although they were often as large
as or larger than most dwellings of the era.
Unchinked log construction was probably
typical. Farmers of the region air-cured their
tobacco, and the gaps between the logs
would have provided the necessary flow of
air. (No tobacco barns are known to survive
in the county from the eighteenth century.)
Another tobacco-

from the east
during the related  building
middle decades type of the era
of the was the tobacco
eighteenth warehouse,
century. To which served
create  tobacco primarily for
fields amid the storage and
forests they inspection, unlike
found, the the auction
settlers created warehouses
clearings known developed in the
as deadenings by mid- and late
girdling the trees nineteenth
and setting them century. In 1791
afire. Some a tobacco
. warehouse  was
farmers avoided - 5 o 10. A log tobacco barn (005-5097) authorized  for

the second step
by planting their
tobacco among the dead trunks. Ambherst
was distant from eastern markets, but it was
blessed by a relatively direct connection via
the James River, and during the eighteenth
century the river would have been crowded

with  batteaux and other watercraft
transferring hogsheads of tobacco to
Richmond  and  ultimately  overseas

consumers. Plantation sites along the James
and its major tributaries in the county were
prized by early tobacco farmers for their
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construction on
the lands of John Lynch at the Ambherst
County terminus of his Lynchburg ferry.
The warehouse was the result of a petition
sighed by seventy-nine inhabitants of
Ambherst and Rockbridge counties who
wanted to avoid the expense of transporting
tobacco across the river and up hill to an
existing warehouse on the Lynchburg side.

The Ambherst County warchouse was
probably a long, gabled, rectangular
building, perhaps of brick and stone

%% Koiner, “Handbook of Virginia,” 96; Moore,
Albemarle, 1-2, 16-18.
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construction like the Spring Warehouse,
built by Lynch in Lynchburg in 1792. The
town of Madison (the future Madison
Heights) was established in conjunction
with the warehouse. Much later, in the
1880s and 1890s, Planters’ Warehouse
operated in the town of Amherst. This was
most likely an auction warehouse where
local farmers brought their tobacco for sale
rather than government inspection. The fact
that only one auction warehouse was listed
for the county at the time suggests that
most local leaf was sold in Lynchburg
warehouses. No tobacco warehouses from
the eighteenth century or later are known to
survive in the county.”

The hunger of Ambherst farmers for the
wealth that could be derived from tobacco
spurted demand for workers to clear
landholdings and to grow the labor-
intensive  crop.  Tobacco  cultivation
therefore relied upon and supported the
institution of slavery in the county. The
crop had another
exhaustion. An account of the negative
effect on the county appears in Joseph
Martin’s 1835 gazetteer: “The soil is
naturally fertile, and of the same dark, rich
red, which is found so susceptible of
improvement in Albemarle, &c.—but the
system of Agriculture is bad; and when the
land is exhausted it is generally turned out;
and the deep red gulleys washed by the rain
fill the traveller with feelings of the most
gloomy desolation; but it is hoped that the
James river improvement by rendering
transportation cheaper will induce the
farmers to cultivate in wheat, the lands
which are now turned out, when too poor
for tobacco, and change the appearance of

consequence—soil

% pezzoni, “Architectural History of Halifax
County, Virginia,” 4; Chambers, Lynchburg, 25;
McLeRoy and McLeRoy, Passages, A History of
Amherst County, 30; Chataigne, Chataigne’s
Virginia Business Directory and Gazetteer, 1888-
89; Chataigne, Chataigne’s Virginia Business
Directory and Gazetteer, 1893-94. 203.
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the soil.” Whether the author of Martin’s
description was Martin himself or a
correspondent, the account mirrors the
concerns  of  antebellum  agricultural
reformers who promoted diversified
farming as a cure for tobacco dependence.
The “river improvement” alluded to in
Martin’s gazetteer was the James River and
Kanawha Canal, soon to be constructed
between Richmond and Lynchburg.”

An important evolution of tobacco barn
form occurred in the western Piedmont
during the nineteenth century. By the eve of
the Civil War air-curing had been mostly
supplanted by fire-curing. A commentator
writing in 1860 described the typical barn
used for fire-curing as “usually twenty feet
square, made of sound logs and carried high
enough to afford four tiers below joists
(inclusive) to fire under, with close, tight
roofs.” In this barn an open fire on the
floor cured the tobacco through convective
heating. Whereas the old air-cure barns were
open to the air and variable in form, the
new barns were constructed on the principal
of a smokehouse: tight to hold the heat and
tall to exploit the natural tendency of hot air
to rise. Fire-curing emerged in the early
nineteenth century to satisfy demand for a
lighter smoking tobacco. It was the
technological side of agricultural and market
developments that favored bright leaf
tobacco, the staple of Piedmont tobacco
farmers from Virginia to Georgia during the
latter nineteenth and twentieth centuries. It
is possible that some of the farm buildings
identified by the survey were used for fire-
curing tobacco. A further refinement was
the flue-cure barn, similar in form and basic
principal to the fire-cure barn but with the
innovation of flues to transfer heat from
outside the barn to the interior. The flues
were in turn superceded in the mid-

2" Martin, New and Comprehensive Gazetteer, 128.
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twentieth century when barns were outfitted
with oil burners placed on the barn floors.”

Log construction was the normative method
for the county’s nineteenth- and eatly
twentieth-century tobacco barns. Even after
forest clearance small-bore logs were
available from second-growth stands and
these were ideal for the simple requirements

Figure 11- A log corn crib (005-5062)

of a square-plan flue-cure barn. Local
farmers were adept at basic log construction
and a log flue-cure barn could be quickly
erected by a barn-raising team. As late as
1947 it was claimed that “from the
standpoint of heat conservation [log barns]
are distinctly superior to frame structures
unless the latter are effectively insulated.”
Dimensional lumber and mass-produced
nails eventually made frame construction
more competitive and tar paper and asphalt
roll sheathing provided farmers with a
cheap insulating material. Brick, brick tile,
and concrete block were also used in the
region. Tobacco barns documented by the
2009-10 survey included examples on the
farm at 215 Loblolly Lane (005-5238), farms
on Maple Run Road (005-5286 and 005-
5287), and farms on Turkey Mountain Road
(005-5240 and 005-5288). Some traditional
tobacco farms included a pack house used
to prepare cured leaf for shipment. Pack

2 Cocke, Tobacco, 14-15; Pezzoni, “Architectural
History of Halifax County, Virginia,” 15-16.
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houses, which could take a variety of forms,
were often erected over an ordering pit
where the fragile dried-out leaves were
placed to absorb moisture from the soil to
make them pliable for working.”

The answer of Virginia agricultural
reformers to the sins of tobacco cultivation
was diversified farming, which in fact was
an aspect of the county’s agriculture since
the beginnings of settlement. irginia
Gazette advertisements of the late eighteenth
century routinely touted the wheat and corn
growing  potential of the county’s
plantations. The 1860 federal census
provides a more statistical picture of the
county’s diversified agriculture at the end of
the antebellum period. Slightly under half of
the county’s farm acreage was improved; the
majority was unimproved acreage, mostly
forest. Cattle, milk cows, sheep, and horses
were important livestock species, but by far
the most numerous farm animals were
swine, of which over 17,000 roamed the
landscape. Over 313,000 bushels of corn
were harvested, 120,000 bushels of oats, and
104,000 bushels of wheat, and Irish
potatoes and sweet potatoes were a local
agricultural emphasis. County farmers
harvested 2,847,209 pounds of tobacco, a
respectable amount but surpassed by many
Piedmont counties. Nineteenth-century
stock farmers used the higher elevations in
the Blue Ridge as summer pasture. An echo
of this survives in place names like Salt Log
Gap, presumably after a log trough used to
salt cattle, and the Old Hotel Trail, named
after a herdsman’s cabin jocularly referred
to by hunters as the Old Hotel.”

2 Garner, Production of Tobacco, 162; Pezzoni,
“Architectural History of Halifax County,
Virginia,” 17.

% Kennedy, Agriculture of the United States in
1860, 154-155; “Mt. Pleasant National Scenic
Area.”
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Fruit growing gained steadily in importance
through the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries. Advertisements in the
Virginia Gagette often mentioned county
apple, cherry, and peach orchards in the
eighteenth century. Caleb Ralls established a
nursery on Tobacco Row Mountain by 1778
where he developed the Ralls apple, one of
the stocks used to develop the Fuji variety
in the 1960s. Commercial orchards were
established in the region in the 1850s and
the

modest. In 1900 the county’s value of
product was 1.4% of the state total and in
1930 the number of bushels of apples
harvested was 2.6% of the state total. Sweet
Briar College (005-0219) established the last
large commercial apple orchard in the
county in 1940 and thereafter orchard
production declined.”

An important survival from the years of
commercial apple production is the county’s
contingent of

introduction apple packing
of pesticides sheds. One
and of the oldest
refrigerated and most
transport  at architecturall
the end of the y impressive
century led to is the ca.
increased 1910
production. Montrose
Apple crops Orchard
in  adjacent Packing Shed
counties (005-5094)
tripled or on the
quadrupled southern
during  the flank of
first  quarter Figure 12- Montrose Orchard Packing Shed (005-5094) Tobacco
of the Row
twentieth century, a bonanza in which = Mountain. The Montrose shed has a frame
Ambherst County shared. Commercial  upper level where apples were culled and

orchards were established on Tobacco Row
Mountain with nearby rail shipping centers
such as the aptly named village of Winesap.
Census statistics from the early twentieth
century highlight the importance of orchard
crops in the county’s agricultural makeup.
Historian and orchardist Tom Burford
notes that orchards once “stretched from
Elon and Agricola across the foothills of
[Tobacco Row Mountain| southeast toward
the village of Amherst” In 1907 it was
reported that there were eight orchards
ranging in size from 1,500 to 10,000 trees as
well as numerous smaller orchards. But
compared to counties like Albemarle and

Frederick, Ambherst’s production was
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packed and a lower level of artistic rubble
construction where the apples were stored
for shipment—the stone construction and
bankside siting creating a cool interior. The
ca. 1950 Rucker Brothers Orchard Packing
Shed (005-5256) represents the utilitarian
end of the spectrum. The unpainted cinder
block building has a poured concrete

8 Virginia Gazette, August 26, 1773; Burford, “Far
from the Tree,” 34-36, 38, 39; Burford, “Ambherst
County Heritage Apple;” U.S. census; Taylor and
Parsons, “Apple and Peach Industries of Virginia,”
4, 6,7, 46; Wood and Shields, The Monacan
Indians: Our Story, 28; Gray, “Facts of Interest
about Amherst County,” 5; Cook, Monacans and
Miners, 71-72.
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foundation and industrial-type metal-framed
windows. The Grahams Creek Orchard
Packing Shed (005-5277) and a packing shed
(005-5279) on Ambrose Rucker Road are
other utilitarian examples of the type.

Another  twentieth-century  agricultural
building of note is the gambrel-roofed hay
and livestock barn, a form developed out of
vernacular prototypes in the nineteenth
century and widely popularized by
agricultural reformers at the end of the
century and the beginning of the twentieth
century. Examples in Amherst County are
constructed of frame or cinder block and
probably  date

outside the county. Most dairy farms feature
one or more silos, a structure for producing
and storing silage for livestock feed. Few
silos were documented by the survey; one, a
concrete stave silo on the farm at 432
Hideaway Farm Road (005-5253), probably
dates to the third quarter of the twentieth
century.

Proximity to the wurban market of
Lynchburg encouraged dairy and truck
(vegetable) farming in the twentieth century.
Poultry was an important supplement to
some farm operations, and distinctive shed-
roofed chicken houses survive at such
properties as 005-

mostly to the
1940s or 1950s
They  include
barns on farms
at 005-5267,
005-5293, 005-
5297, and 005-
5303. The
gambrel-roofed
cinder-block
dairy barn at
005-5075
features a hay

5324, 005-5082,
and Oake Grove
(005-5332). In the
second half of the
century cattle
farming rose to
prominence, with
corn grown for
feed, although
tobacco remained
a component of
the county’s
agriculture and is

bonnet,
projection  on

the front of the roof that sheltered the hay
mow doors, and metal ventilators along the
ridge. It is nearly identical in form to
another gambrel-roofed barn at 005-5248,
suggesting the two were built to the same
plans. An advantage of the gambrel form
was its self-supporting structure, which
permitted  unobstructed  hay  storage,
loading, and retrieval. The same benefit was
afforded by the barrel-vaulted roofs of two
large cinder-block barns at Laurel Cliff
Farm (005-5280). Smaller buildings on the
farm have vaulted roofs that are not full
180-degree barrel vaults. Laurel Cliff’s
locally unusual barn roofs may have been
assembled from components manufactured

Ambherst County Historic Resources Survey Report

4 Figure 13- A gambrel-roofed barn (005-5075)

still grown in the

twenty-first
century. Many wood-fired flue-cure barns
were converted to gas or oil burning in the
middle decade of the last century and in
recent decades have given way to
prefabricated metal bulk barns. Agricultural
trends of the twentieth and early twenty-
first centuries have led to the abandonment
of hundreds of historic Ambherst County
farm buildings.”

%2 Gray, “Facts of Interest about Amherst County,”
6.
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Commerce

Ambherst  County’s  eighteenth-century
commercial ~ buildings were  probably
architecturally similar to houses, although
some early documentation  suggests
differentiation for at least one type, the
ordinary or tavern. A 1771  sale
advertisement for the plantation of Gabriel
Penn described “an ordinary house fifty
four feet long, finished off in a complete
manner, [with] three rooms with fireplaces
below stairs, besides lodging rooms, and
three rooms above stairs, one of which has
a fireplace.” Penn’s  ordinary  was
considerably larger than most local
dwellings of the era, and his plantation was
apparently the closest thing colonial
Ambherst had to a town and commercial
center. In addition to the ordinary there
were two stores and a third one on an
adjacent property as well as tailor and
blacksmith shops. For the convenience of
county residents, and no doubt as a play for
their trade, Penn hosted the county Clerk of
Court on his plantation in a building that
also served as the clerk’s dwelling.”

Penn’s 1771 advertisement points to the
role of commerce as a catalyst for town
development in the county. “This place is
more conveniently situated, and better
calculated for trade, than perhaps any of the
[back farms?] in this county at least, if not
on the continent,” he wrote with some
hyperbole, also noting “the whole of the
buildings are placed uniform, in lines and
squares, so as to resemble a town.” Any
activity that induced the county’s dispersed
inhabitants  to  congregate  was  an
opportunity  for commerce. Tobacco
inspection was one such attraction. Along
the James River in the Elon vicinity a
tobacco warehouse was established at a

% Virginia Gazette, March 21, 1771; Lounsbury,
Courthouses of Early Virginia, 301.
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place called Davies’ Lower Ferry in 1798
and the location was officially designated
the town of Bethel in 1801, although the
town was in existence by 1775. An early plat
shows a simple grid of twenty-four square
or roughly square half-acre lots arranged
parallel to the river and served by a principal
street and several short cross streets. In its
heyday Bethel is said to have included a
ferry landing, a mill, several stores (one
containing the post office), a tavern, and a
cluster of houses in addition to one or two
tobacco warehouses. Scattered ruinous
buildings survive at the site today, such as a
store and post office building and a building
variously described as a dwelling or wash
house (005-5336).

Joseph Martin’s A New and Comprebensive
Gazetteer of Virginia (1835) listed  three
county villages with an appreciable number
of commercial enterprises: Amherst Court
House, New Glasgow, and Pedlar Mills.
Ambherst boasted two stores and two
taverns and among its 130 residents there
were two attorneys and three physicians.
New Glasgow may have been bigger than
the courthouse village at the time, for
although Martin did not record its
population he noted that it had twenty-one
dwellings, as opposed to Amherst’s
fourteen, and four stores. (How broad an
area Martin  or his  correspondents
considered to lie in each community is
unknown.) Pedlar Mills, population fifty-six,
had fourteen dwellings, a tavern, and a
store.”

% Virginia Gazette, March 21, 1771, and February
11, 1775; Houck and Maxham, Indian Island, 44-
46; McLeRoy and McLeRoy, Passages, A History
of Amherst County, 27, 30, 32; McLeod, “Outline
History of the Town of Salt Creek (Bethel).”

% Martin, New and Comprehensive Gazetteer, 129.
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Of  particular  interest in  Martin’s
enumeration was Buffalo Springs, noted for
chalybeate waters that “attract a good deal
of company in summer.” Western Virginia
springs resorts advertised the purported
benefits of their mineral waters, but the

ownership made travel to more distant
destinations easier.”

In Ambherst’s towns and rural areas a
distinctive store type became popular in the
nineteenth century. The type had a gabled

principal draw for front that
Tidewater distinguished it
planters and from traditional
urbanites was domestic form in
escape from which the non-
summer heat and gable elevation is
disease. Springs- presented to the
going was also street.
the social event Presumably  the
of the summer gable-fronted
season and a store  type was
commercial spawned in dense
opportunity  for urban  contexts
springs ~ owners. where land values
Benjamin encouraged  the
Sandidge is maximization of
thought to have street  frontage,
been the first and its
owner to develop subsequent
accommodations spread to rural
at Buffalo Figure 14- Sandidges Post Office and Store (005-5067) areas had as much
Springs, operating to do with

a tavern there in 1820. McLeRoy and
McLeRoy write that he provided cabins for
his guests, a common form of lodging at
Virginia’s antebellum springs resorts. Later
owner James Saunders may have built a
hotel at the location, which burned in the
1850s and seems to have been replaced by
another hotel that burned shortly before
1907. Mary L. Myers purchased the springs
in 1907 and it was presumably she who built
the present two-story frame hotel (005-
0127), which is now in ruinous condition.
To connect to the canal at Lynchburg, the
Lynchburg-Buffalo Springs Turnpike was
constructed in 1837. The resort closed
around 1920 as increased automobile

Ambherst County Historic Resources Survey Report

connotations of urbanity as functional need.
An early surviving example of the form is
the brick store (005-0138) at the heart of the
village of Pedlar Mills, which features a
gable-fronted two-story form and batten
window shutters that were protected against
forced entry by iron security bars. The
ruinous building appears to date to the third
quarter of the nineteenth century. The ca.
1880 Sandidges Post Office and Store (005-
5067) features large paneled shutters that
can be closed to shield the display windows
from break in. Its upper story may have
served for storage or as lodgings for the
storekeeper or a junior clerk. Early
twentieth-century photographs of

% Ibid., 129; McLeRoy and McLeRoy, More
Passages, 77-78; Gray, “Facts of Interest about
Ambherst County,” 8.
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downtown Amherst show blocks of two-
story gable-fronted frame stores, most with
permanent wooden awnings to protect the
storefront from sun and weather.”

A characteristic feature of the nineteenth-
century country and small-town store was a
storefront with large display windows and
inviting recessed entries. An example is
Walsh’s Store (005-5128), which also has a
bracketed storefront cornice and paneled
aprons under the display windows. Many
store builders resorted to an architectural
trick that made small buildings look more
imposing: the false front. Examples of the
form are common in the county. Walsh’s
Store has a false front, as do a store on the
Buffalo Springs Turnpike (005-5272), the
Mrs. M. Hill Market (005-5207), and the
stores designated 005-5090, 005-5111, and
005-5212. False fronts usually conceal a
gable behind, and they are either rectangular
in form (flat topped) or stepped.

A well-documented example of a
nineteenth-century Ambherst County
commercial building is the Hite Store (005-
0058) in Lowesville, a two-story hip-roofed
brick building with Greek Revival stylistic
treatments built ca. 1869 for Henry Loving
and Nathan C. Taliaferro (the Hites were
later owners). As was the case for many
country store owners of the era, Taliaferro
also owned a mill, Woodson’s Mill, located
across the line in Nelson County. According
to research by architectural historian Susan
Smead, the Hite Store was a hub of social
activity in addition to its commercial role. It
housed the Lowesville Post Office from ca.
1876 to the turn of the twenty-first century
and the Lowesville Academy occupied the
upstairs around 1890. Traveling salesmen or
“drummers” boarded in the building, as did
teachers at Lowesville’s public school. The
rehabilitated building currently houses The

" Wimer, Robert. “Driven by Drink,” 34.
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Old Store at Lowesville, which sells the
work of local crafts people.™

The nineteenth and twentieth centuries
witnessed a diversification of the county’s
commercial building types. An early bank
was the New Glasgow Savings Institution,
incorporated in 1839 and rechartered in
1850. Banks gravitated to the town of
Ambherst and in the 1910s or 1920s two
Classical Revival bank buildings were
erected on opposite corners of the central
Main and Court Street intersection. The
brick buildings were built with monumental
columns in antis that lent their facades an
imposing appearance. The Classical Revival
style was a favorite of banking institutions
of the era for just that reason—it evoked
feelings of permanence and fiscal prudence,
attributes that depositors wanted to see in
their banks even when the reality, as
demonstrated by the bank closures of the
Great Depression, might not jibe with the
architecture. The presence of a railroad
workforce in Monroe was presumably a
factor in the construction of the bank that
stands at 122 Brooks Street (005-5148),
which like the Amherst banks is Classical
Revival in style and dates to the same
period. Indicative of diversification in the
county’s commercial development is the
existence of an Amherst Opera House in
1886. The enterprise, which presumably
occupied the upper level of a downtown
store building, would have accommodated
traveling vaudeville shows and local social
and political gatherings.”

% Smead, “Hite Store;” The Old Store at
Lowesville website.

% Acts of the General Assembly (1839), 140-141;
Acts of the General Assembly (1850), 130;
McLeRoy and McLeRoy, Passages, 90-91; The
Muse (August 2007).
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Ambherst had grown sufficiently by 1927 to
warrant mapping by the Sanborn Map
Company, which documented communities
nationwide for insurance purposes. The
Sanborn map shows the substantial brick

Alley and Depot Street, the latter
conveniently located near the Hotel
Ambherst and the Central Hotel, and a
“Wagon Repository,” presumably a horse-
drawn conveyance rental agency, stood on

commercial Main  Street.
blocks that At the same
were  erected time, an auto
in the early repair garage
twentieth operated out
century to of a building
replace the on the corner
less fireproof

frame  stores Figure 16- Bank, Monroe (005-5148)

of ecarlier of Main and
periods. Depot streets
Unlike those and ‘ srpall
typically gable- buildings
fronted labeled “A”
buildings, the ) ) ) for
new Figure 15- Store and service station at Faulconerville (005-5091) automobile
generation often featured shed roofs that garage had

were hidden from street view by ornamental
corbelled or bracketed parapets. The form
was optimized for dense downtown
development since it shed rainwater to the
rear, allowing the buildings to be erected
side by side to create continuous urban-like
streetfronts. The two-story brick building
designated  163-5005 has the general
character of the era, as well as old painted
signage on the side elevation, although it is
gable-roofed. In 1927 the town’s post office
occupied all or part of the street level of one
of the Main Street commercial buildings, a
symbiosis that was common in small town
America but had begun to change as
localities and the federal government
erected stand-alone post offices.”

The 1927 Sanborn map is of interest for its
portrayal of the transition from a horse-
based commercial culture to one that
revolved around the automobile. Livery
stables where horses could be hired or
boarded short-term stood on Needmore

%0 Sanborn Map Company.
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begun to appear in residential back lots. The
car would have a transformative effect on
the character of the town of Amherst in the
middle decades of the twentieth century.
Many businesses moved out of the
downtown and new ones sprang up along
the automobile arteries leading in and out of
town. The shift coincided with the rise of
automobile suburbs that sprawled into the
farmland  surrounding ~ Amherst and
Madison Heights.41

The county possesses a number of service
stations from the early decades of the
automobile age. The ca. 1929 service station
(005-5108) on Main Street in Madison
Heights has a standard feature of the type: a
front canopy that sheltered gas pumps and
could in some examples be used as a drive-
through for the convenience of motorists
and attendants. This particular building is
also notable for its splayed hip roof and
remnants of a stucco exterior with chips of

1 bid.
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green glass mixed into the stucco for
decorative effect.

Other early service stations or country
stores with a service station function include
005-5126, which has a log wing reminiscent
of road houses of the 1930s period; the
Agricola Store (005-5181); and 005-5091.
The construction of US Highway 60
through the county in the 1930s encouraged
landowners to build small stores and service
stations along its route during the late 1930s
and 1940s. Surveyed examples include
Tucker’s General Merchandise (005-5074),
Dodd’s Store (005-5167), Drummond’s
Store (005-5252), Brown Mountain Lunch
(005-5296), and Ashby Davis Grocery (005-
5297). The drive-through on the front of
Tucker’s Store is substantially constructed
of brick with arched end supports.

Industry

Industrial activity took a variety of forms in
Ambherst County during the historic period.
Large-scale enterprises like
manufacturing were present but there were
also numerous small-scale activities like
milling, tanning, and blacksmithing. A
remarkable announcement in the February
11, 1775, issue of the Uirginia Gazette
provides a sort of wish list for the types of
trades the developers of the Ambherst
County town of Bethel hoped to attract to
their newly established village on the James
River. Bethel’s promoters, Nicholas and
Henry Landon Davies, wrote that “the
trades most wanting, in the said town, at
this time, are a good blacksmith, a tailor, a
shoemaker, a weaver, a cutler, a cabinet
maker, a wheelwright, and persons that
understand mines, there being a great and
many signs of tin, lead and copper.”*

iron

“2 Virginia Gazette, February 11, 1775; McLeod,
“Outline History of the Town of Salt Creek
(Bethel).”
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Bethel was already the site of a gristmill in
1775, an indication of the importance of
milling to the county’s largely agricultural
economy. In 1773 Carter Braxton advertised
for sale “a very valuable GRIST MILL,
lately built, with a stone dam and a pair of
Cologne millstones, which mill has for two
years past got upwards of 100 barrels of toll
corn, and is situated on a never failing
stream.” Braxton’s mill, which was probably
located on Buffalo River, would have been
expensively accoutered, as its imported
millstones of Rhenish origin indicate,
although the stones may not have been of
the same quality as the celebrated French
buhr stone. Its stone dam too would have
been a costly improvement since many mill
dams of the era were timber constructions.
Smaller, water-powered tub mills and horse-
and hand-powered mills may also have
served the county’s needs.”

Several water-powered mills survive from
the nineteenth century. Among the oldest is
Galt’s Mill, a Flemish-bond brick structure
built in 1813. Originally five-and-a-half
stories in height, the mill was reduced to
two stories in the mid-twentieth century,
but it retains much of its historic machinery,
which was based on the scheme patented by
mill innovator Oliver Evans in the
cighteenth century. In addition to Galt’s
Mill, surviving mills include Amherst Mill
(163-0007; ca. 1813, rebuilt in 1948),
Sandidge’s Mill (005-5069; ca. 1870;), and
Brightwell’s or Baldock’s Mill (005-0035; ca.
1878, rebuilt ca. 1942). One of the county’s
largest mills was Scott’s Mill, built in 1885
on a site below the bluffs of Madison
Heights on the James River. The five-story
frame building, which was well sited to
serve the burgeoning Lynchburg population,
burned in 1944. Amherst Mill, which once
contained a generator that provided
electricity to the adjacent town of Ambherst,

*8 Virginia Gazette, November 25, 1773.
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can be operated using electricity or water
power. Where mill buildings no longer
survive evocative stone foundation ruins
sometimes do, such as the mill ruins of 005-
5081. Distilling was another traditional
industry that relied on the county’s grain
production. Legally sanctioned distilling
continued to the era of state and federal
Prohibition that commenced around the

Patent Office—a timely idea considering the
Confederate army’s need for footwear—and
his expertise in wood working and the
location of his plantation on the Orange and
Alexandria Railroad suggests he may have
intended to mass produce the shoe soles.”

The iron industry has eighteenth-century
roots in the county. In 1777 John DePriest

turn  of  the
twentieth

century and the
illegal form of
the  venerable
craft was
practiced before,
during, and after

offered for sale
a tract having
“on it a great
appearance  of
iron ore,
deemed by good
judges to be

equal to any yet

Prohibition. discovered  in
Industries listed this country, and
in an 1835 a constant water
gazetteer course
included convenient for
merchant mills, the use of a
tanyards, furnace.”
iﬁ‘s‘“"“ﬁ; cucpy Figure 17- Sandidge’s Mill (005-5069)

trades as saddlemaking, cabinetmaking, = Whether a furnace was built on DePriest’s

wheelwrighting, and tailoring.*

Some enterprising county residents juggled a
number of industrial activities. Sylvester
Burford, who owned Oak Lawn (005-5029)
in the Elon vicinity, gave his occupation as
carriage maker in the 1850, 1870, and 1880
federal censuses, but he also operated a
gristmill, a sawmill, and a coffin making and
undertaking  business. He owned a
blacksmith shop which in 1870 was run by
African  American  blacksmith ~ James
Johnson. In 1863 Burford patented a
“wooden shoe sole” with the Confederate

* Esposito, “Galts Mill Complex,” 1-4, 23; The
Muse (February 2008); Underwood and
Underwood, “Aerial Views of Lynchburg and
Vicinity;” Free Lance-Star, October 3, 1991;
Ambherst County, Virginia, 9, 24; Martin, New and
Comprehensive Gazetteer, 129; Hobbs, Canal on
the James, 65.
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tract is uncertain, but it is known that
another county landowner participated in
the iron industry by quarrying limestone, an
ingredient of the flux used in furnaces. In
the 1770s Thomas Anderson shipped the
limestone from his plantation known as
Fish Pond on the James River downstream
to Buckingham Furnace, Richmond, and
Manchester. Anderson also possessed a
quarry of “clouded marble” which he noted
was “capable of being worked up in any
shape or form that may be wanting.” In
1837 industrialist Francis B. Deane and

others incorporated the Ambherst Iron
Company for  the purpose of
“manufacturing iron, steel and other

metals.” The company was a contemporary
of the Elk Creek Furnace, an iron furnace
constructed just over the Nelson County

* Pezzoni, “Oak Lawn,” 6-8.
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line at Allens Creek on the James River in
1837.%

In 1863 a charcoal blast furnace was
constructed within the county’s borders at
Snowden. Known as Amherst Furnace and
operated by William H. Jordan, the furnace
produced iron used by Lynchburg’s F. B.
Deane and Son Foundry to make ordnance
for the Confederate war effort. Jordan and a
relative, John T. Jordan, who managed the
furnace in the 1880s, belonged to a

operations, for it is believed to have gone
out of business in the 1880s."’

Iron ore mining was another facet of the
county’s iron industry. The Central Virginia
Company mined ore near Stapleton, where
by the early 1880s the company had
constructed several mine tunnels, one eight
hundred feet in length. In 1880 The irginias
reported extensive iron ore mining along the
course of the James River in the Galt’s Mill
to Riverville area, including the construction

prominent  western
Virginia iron
manufacturing

family. One account
states that the
furnace went out of
blast in 1877 but was
rebuilt in 1883. In
1884 Ambherst
Furnace, which was
also known at the
Jordan Furnace, used
brown hematite ore
in the production of
pig iron for car
wheels. J. L. and H.
D. Campbell wrote

in 1885 that the
furnace was
constructed of
sandstone and its

facilities were water-powered. At that time
the furnace had a tapered cylindrical stack.
In addition to the furnace were a grist mill, a
sawmill, offices, storehouses, stables, a
“family residence,” and tenant houses. The
1884 and 1885 reports provide a snapshot
of the furnace at the tail end of its

b

*® Virginia Gazette, December 12, 1777, and
October 30, 1779; Acts of the General Assembly
(1837), 210; McLeRoy and McLeRoy, More
Passages, 79.
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Figure 18- Amherst County as portrayed in J. L. Campbell’s Geology and
Mineral Resources of the James River Valley (1882)

of tramlines to transport the ore to the river.
The account suggests the employment of
over one hundred miners at various
openings. Ore was mined in the Allen’s
Creek, Mundy’s Mill, Sandidges, and
Snowden areas in 1893. By the turn of the
twentieth century iron manufacture in the
county had apparently ceased, a pattern that
was repeated elsewhere in the state as

" The Virginias (November 1884), 175; McLeod,
“Outline History of the Town of Salt Creek
(Bethel);” Amherst County, Virginia, 13; Campbell
and Campbell, Report on the Buena Vista Farm,
15-16; McLeRoy and McLeRoy, More Passages,
80.
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exploitation of the vast iron deposits of the
Great Lakes region out-competed marginal
Virginia iron industries. Iron mining and
processing facilities were abandoned; the
Ambherst Furnace, for example, either fell
down or was demolished by the mid-
twentieth century.”

Copper was mined during the historic
period and copper mining may in fact have
been the county’s earliest extractive industry
other than timber harvesting. In 1847 a
Lynchburg  paper reported that an
“Englishman” named Chiswell mined
copper in present-day Ambherst County
beginning in 1739. The mine owner was
John Chiswell, actually a native of Scotland
and a resident of Williamsburg and
Scotchtown, who also acquired nearly
30,000 acres in present-day Nelson County
in 1739 and who owned several copper
mines in Albemarle County (which then
included Ambherst) in 1760. According to
McLeRoy and McLeRoy, Chiswell “and his
partners, Robert Rose, Joshua Fry, and John
Harvie, sank two shafts (75 and 47 feet
deep) but had continuous problems with
water, which resulted in a cave in and the
deaths of several miners.” In 1757
Chiswell’s copper mine is said to have
employed as many as fifty workers. Chiswell
is also said to have constructed two stamp
mills to process the ore, which was shipped
by batteaux down the James for refining in
England. Thomas Jefferson presumably
referred to Chiswell’s mine when he wrote
in Notes on Virginia: “A mine of copper was
once opened in the county of Amherst, on
the North side of James river, and another
in the opposite county [Appomattox
County], on the South side. However, either
from bad management or the poverty of the
veins, they were discontinued.” The

*® The Virginias (June 1880), 88-89; Campbell,
Geology and Mineral Resources of the James River
Valley, 43; Chataigne, Chataigne’s Virginia
Gazetteer and Classified Business Directory, 1893-
94, 202.
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Figure 19- Twentieth Century slate processing
ruins, Snowden vicinity

Chiswell mine was reopened in 1836 but
soon closed as a result of a financial panic.
Resumed mining was reported to be
imminent in 1847 with a work force of fifty
hands assembled, mostly slaves, and in
January 1848 the Amherst Copper Mining
and Smelting Company was incorporated.
An 1882 account noted the existence of a
copper mine at the northwest base of
Buffalo Ridge near a location known as The
Folly.49

Geologist T. L. Watson reported on the
county’s mineral industries in his 1907 work
Mineral Resources of Virginia. Watson noted
limited mining of “manganiferous iron ore”
(manganese) in the Stapleton Mills area and
implied the ore was mined or at least
prospected in the 1880s. Cambrian-age
Hampton Formation slate of dark gray color
was quarried near Snowden at the Williams
Brothers Quarry, which opened in 1880 and
was owned in 1884 and 1906 by the Virginia
Slate Mining Company of Lynchburg. The
Snowden slate was used for roofing in

* Lynchburg Virginian, November 11, 1847;
McLeRoy and McLeRoy, More Passages, 29-30;
Hening, Statutes at Large (1766), 270-271;
Jefferson, Notes on Virginia, 27; Kegley, Kegley’s
Virginia Frontier, 28; Acts of the General
Assembly (1848), 303; Campbell, Geology and
Mineral Resources of the James River Valley, 98;
Brown, William R. Structural Framework, 104.

39



Lynchburg and Lexington and for furniture.
J. L. and H. D. Campbell wrote in 1884 that
the quarry employees and their families
“have already formed the nucleus of a
pleasant little village along the mountain

valley near the quarries.” Chimneys
constructed of sawn and split slate,
fieldstone foundations, and road beds

survive from the quarry complex. Hercules
and the Amlite Corporation produced
crushed slate for brickmaking in the
twentieth century and extensive concrete
ruins associated with this phase of quarrying
survive at the location. The slate industry, a
more modest local soapstone industry, and
other extractive industries benefited from
the railroad improvements of the 1880s. In
the mid-twentieth century ilemnite-saprolite
ore used to produce titanium pigments was
pit mined near Amherst. The ore was also
mined near Lowesville in the 1960s and
1970s by the American Cyanimid Company,
which processed the ore at its plant in
Nelson County.”

The mills, blacksmith shops, and mining
operations of traditional Amherst County
were supplemented by new industries in the
twentieth century. A small industrial enclave
developed near the Ambherst depot known
as Dearborn. Historian Billy Wydner notes
that Dearborn once included a power plant,
an ice house, a plaster mill, and a sawmill in
addition to Amherst Mill, which still stands.
In 1907 Madison Heights boasted the
Virginia-Carolina ~ Chemical =~ Company
Fertilizer Plant and a mineral water bottling
plant. The most important industrial

%0 Watson, Mineral Resources of Virginia, 47-48,
239; Campbell and Campbell, “Snowdon Slate
Quarries,” 162-163, 170; Amherst New Era
Progress, March 10, 1977; Gray, “Facts of Interest
about Amherst County,” 7; Sweet, “Virginia’s
Mineral Industry,” 26; Koiner, “Handbook of
Virginia,” 97; Fish, Titanium Resources, 35;
Fulcher, “Rutile and Ilemnite Mining;” Virginia
Minerals 10:3 (August 1964), 5, 6; Amherst New
Era Progress, June 20, 1977.
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enterprise of the era, in terms of its impact
on the county’s landscape, was large-scale
timber harvesting. In 1907 Episcopal
minister and county promoter Arthur Gray
wrote that “sawmills and lumber companies
are all over the county and [are] sweeping
up the woods for every conceivable
purpose, piles, staves, shingles, ties, lumber,
pulp-wood, tan wood, tan bark, etc., and it
is at present the chief industry of the
county.” The rapacious exploitation of the
county’s forests—first to fuel iron furnaces,
later to satisty the demand for building
supplies and the other products listed by
Arthur Gray—motivated the creation of
national forests to help protect the county
and region’s dwindling forest reserves.
Watershed protection was another aim of
federal forest acquisitions, and in the case of
Ambherst County the watershed that most
needed safeguarding was the upper Pedlar
River. In 1907 the City of Lynchburg
completed the Lynchburg Dam on the river,
creating a reservoir that supplied the city
through a twenty-one-mile-long redwood
pipeline. The wooden water line has been
replaced by a steel one that continues to
provide Lynchburg with fresh water.”

Transportation

The James River facilitated the settlement of
Ambherst County in the eighteenth century
and linked it to eastern markets. At first
river traffic relied solely on the natural, and
often hazardous, course of the river. As a
local commentator noted in 1775, the
county was located “near the upper end of
navigation with small craft in said river.”
The “upper end” was the James River
Gorge, a thousand-foot-deep canyon where

> The Muse (October 2007); Underwood and
Underwood, “Aerial Views of Lynchburg and
Vicinity;” Gray, “Facts of Interest about Amherst
County,” 6, 9; Pezzoni, “College Hill Filtration
Plant.”
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the river drops two-hundred feet in four
miles (the gorge follows part of the
boundary between Ambherst and Bedford
counties). The first serious effort to
improve navigation on the river was
launched by the James River Company,
formed in 1785 and headed by George
Washington as honorary president. The
company initially focused on canal works
around the falls at Richmond, but in 1812
another luminary, Chief Justice John
Marshall, on behalf of the company headed
a party to explore a potential canal route
through the James River Gorge and beyond.
In 1824 the James River Company, by then
a state-owned entity, began construction of
the Blue Ridge Canal to bypass Balcony
Falls and other rapids in the James River
Gorge. The Blue Ridge Canal was designed
to accommodate batteaux, the narrow river
craft that had been wused since -eartly
settlement to transport tobacco hogsheads
and other products. The seven-and-a-half-
mile-long canal was nominally completed in
the late 1820s but deficiencies in its design
necessitated frequent repairs.”

Canals at the Richmond and Ambherst
County locations made navigation of the
James River in its entirety more practical,
but the reliance on batteaux was a major
limitation. In 1832 the James River and
Kanawha Company was incorporated to
construct a more advanced canal for most
of the length of the river above Richmond
with the ultimate purpose of linking to the
Kanawha (New) River and the Ohio River
basin. Canal beds, locks, and tow paths were
constructed to accommodate boats known
as packets that carried more cargo than the
batteaux and could also convey passengers.
The first division of the canal was
completed  between  Richmond  and

*2 Virginia Gazette, February 11, 1775; Gibson,
Cabell’s Canal, 25, 27, 87, 89; Dunaway, History
of the James River and Kanawha Company, 19, 88;
Hobbs, Canal on the James, 4, 5.
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Lynchburg in 1840 and the second division,
built through the James River Gorge and
other difficult terrain between Lynchburg
and Buchanan, was completed in 1851. The
third division upstream from Buchanan was
never completed.”

The canal entered Ambherst County at its
eastern tip and crossed the river to the
Campbell County side near Joshua Falls.
That allowed direct service to Lynchburg on
the south side and avoided the bluffs at
Madison Heights. The course then
continued upstream from Lynchburg
through Bedford County before crossing
back to the Ambherst side near Rope
Ferry/Snowden. The company constructed
a number of massive stone locks in the
county as well as aqueducts to carry the
canal across creeks. A double-arched
sandstone aqueduct was built in 1839 to
span Stovall/Beck Creek at Galt’s Mill and a
single-arch aqueduct was built about the
same time over Porridge Creek at Stapleton.
A pencil sketch made in 1858 by artist
Alfred Brown Petticolas shows a canal boat
passing over the Porridge Creek Aqueduct.
The two aqueducts were converted to
railroad bridges in the 1880s and continue
to serve that function. In addition to the
many canal-related stone structures that
survive in Ambherst County, the county
possesses a well-preserved section of
towpath and canal bed downstream from
the Joshua Falls/Ninemile Bridge where the
railroad chose to depart from the canal
route.”

The James River and Kanawha Canal was
plagued by financial problems,
topographical obstacles, and damage from
floods and war. Its principal undoing,

>3 Dunaway, History of the James River and
Kanawha Company, 95, 132, 157.

> Trout, Upper James Atlas, 76; Hobbs, Canal on
the James, 10, 64, 120; Esposito, “Galts Mill
Complex,” 5.

4



however, was technological. The period of
its operations in the middle decades of the
nineteenth century coincided with the rise
of railroads as the primary mode of inland
freight and passenger transportation in
America. Amherst County was a relatively
early beneficiary of rail transport. Nearby

The railroad introduced new building types
and structures to the county. Most
impressive were the bridges constructed
over the James River and other
watercourses. The Richmond and Alleghany
Railroad acquired the works of the James
River and

Lynchburg was
a rail hub; the

Virginia and
Tennessee
Railroad
constructed its
eastern

terminus in the
city in 1850 and
by the end of
1852 had trains

Kanawha Canal
in 1880 and built
its road bed
mostly along the
canal route.
Where the rail
line crossed the
James River at
Joshua Falls and
Rope Ferry the

running as far company  built
west as Salem. multi-span  iron
It was truss bridges on
completed ~ to Figure 20- Amherst Traffic Circle (163-5006) massive  stone
the Tennessee piers and

line in 1856. Whereas Amherst County
indirectly benefited from the Virginia and
Tennessee and another antebellum line that
connected to Lynchburg, the Southside
Railroad, the county was directly served by
the Orange and Alexandria Railroad, which
was completed through the county in 1860
to link Charlottesville and Lynchburg. In
1859 Alfred Brown Petticolas sketched
railroad workers making a cut for the line in
Ambherst County. The Orange and
Alexandria eventually became part of the
Southern Railway and is today a link in the
Norfolk Southern system. In 1897 the
Southern Railway establishe